2010 10128 1111:03

CASE NO. SC11-2403

BY_

LOWER COURT CASE NO. 91-12952

BRETT A. BOGLE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LINDA McDERMOTT Florida Bar No. 0102857

MARTIN J. McCLAIN Florida Bar No. 0754773

McCLAIN & McDERMOTT, P.A. 20301 Grande Oak Blvd. Suite 118-61 Estero, FL 33928 (850)322-2172 F (954)564-5412

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. THE TRIAL

On September 13, 1991, Robert Wolf noticed a body behind the Beverage Barn (T. 193). The Beverage Barn was located next to Club 41 (T. 196). Upon the arrival of law enforcement, a portion of the back wall was removed because there were some marks on it "where somebody was up against it." (T. 203).²

Dr. Adams was called to the scene. He told the jury that:

The body was in a grassy area . . . There were articles of clothing near the body, a head band, shorts, a brassiere and socks scattered around. The other sock was still on the body, the only garment left on the body. And also near the body were three pieces of concrete which - two of which appeared to be broken from one piece.

(T. 208). One of the pieces of concrete appeared to have blood on it (T. 209); there was blood splatter at the scene (T. 213).

The victim, Margaret Torres, had a laceration to her head and multiple skull fractures; the injuries were consistent with the piece on concrete found at the scene and would have rendered Torres unconscious and caused her death (T. 220, 239).

Adams testified that there were injuries to Torres' anus; she had "several tears ... there was hemorrhage into the tissue" and some "microscopic hemorrhage into the lining of the rectum." (T. 222). The injuries were consistent with anal intercourse (T.

²Dr. Vernon Adams, the medical examiner, described the marks as possibly being "palm prints" (T. 249).

222), though Adams could not determine whether the intercourse was consensual (T. 248). Adams opined that the injuries were inflicted within 3 hours before her death (T. 247). Adams approximated the time of death as 3:00 a.m. on the 13th.

Torres blood alcohol content was .26% or .29% (T. 245).³

Brett Bogle became the prime suspect in the crime. He had been dating Katie Alfonso, Torres' sister, during the summer of 1991 (T. 263). At this time, Torres' young children lived with Alfonso in a trailer (T. 261-2). Torres came by the trailer every day (T. 262).

Bogle moved in with Alfonso for 5 or 6 weeks (T. 264). Bogle and Torres "never got along" and bickered a lot (<u>Id</u>.). Alfonso said that Bogle tried to get along with Torres but they continued to argue "mainly about who was cooking or, you know stuff like that." (T. 266). Alfonso finally asked Bogle to leave (T. 266-7). Bogle moved out at the end of August, 1991, but continued to call Alfonso (T. 268).

On September 1, 1991, Bogle called Alfonso and asked if she wanted to go to Pinellas County to buy some beer (T. 269). Alfonso testified: "he was trying, and, you know, I wanted to give him another chance and stuff like that." (<u>Id</u>.). Alfonso and Torres went with Bogle. On the way back, Bogle and Torres argued (T. 270). The group went to Bogle's apartment and Bogle wanted Alfonso to enter his apartment without her sister. Alfonso refused (<u>Id</u>.), and the group then drove to Alfonso's (T. 271).

On the ride home, Bogle called Torres a "bitch, whore" and a

³Adams testified that this level of alcohol could have had an effect on Torres' ability to feel pain (T. 1361-2).

troublemaker (<u>Id</u>.). According to Alfonso, when the group arrived at her trailer, Bogle tried to enter. Torres threatened "to call the cops and [Bogle], he just blew up." (T. 272). He busted the screens and threw Alfonso out of the way to enter the trailer (T. 273). He grabbed the phone from Torres and twisted her arm (T. 274). Then, he took \$54.00 from Alfonso's pocket and told Torres that "if she called the cops and pressed charges on him ... that she wouldn't live to tell about it." (T. 275).

That same day, a 911 call was placed from Alfonso's trailer (T. 255). Deputy Zdanwic responded and spoke to Alfonso and Torres (T. 256). She believed they had been drinking (T. 258). Zdanwic observed some red marks on Torres' neck and wrist (T. 256). She also noticed that a screen on a few doors were torn and the front door was damaged (T. 256). There were also smashed telephones in the trailer (T. 256-7).

Within a few days, Bogle called and threatened Torres if she pressed charges (T. 277). Bogle called again and Alfonso told him they were not going to press charges (T. 278).

On the evening of September 12th, Bogle was seen at the Red Gables Bar (T. 374-5). Jeff Trapp testified that Bogle was with an individual named Guy Douglas (T. 375).⁴ Trapp also testified that he arrived at the Red Gables Bar to get Jeanie [Burile] because her sister, Marcia [Turley], "was real drunk at Club 41 passed out in a car" (T. 376). He testified that he drove Bogle,

⁴Trapp testified at the penalty phase. <u>See</u> R. 1216-30. As to Bogle's conversation with Torres, he testified that it did not appear heated, but "normal" and neither appeared upset with the other (T. 1219, 1230). He changed his testimony as to what Bogle told him about Torres saying that Bogle had observed that she was "real trashed" (<u>Id</u>.).

Douglas and Jeanie to Club 41 (<u>Id</u>.). When the group arrived at Club 41 between 10 and 11 p.m., Trapp saw Torres, who was by herself (T. 376, 379). Bogle approached Torres and they had a conversation (T. 377). Bogle told Trapp that Torres was "real trash" (T. 377). Trapp didn't notice any injuries or scratches to Bogle (T. 378). Trapp left the bar 30 to 45 minutes later (T. 379). According to Trapp, Bogle was still at Club 41, but Douglas, Marcia and Jeanie had all left (T. 377-8).

Bogle called Alfonso around 11:00 p.m. and asked if he could come over (T. 281). Alfonso said "no" and Bogle became furious and told her that he loved her, but she "can be a real bitch sometimes." (T. 281).

Phillip and Tammy Alfonso saw Torres at Starky's Bar at 10:30 p.m. (T. 407, 432). After about 45 minutes the Alfonso's left Starky's and went to a friend's house (T. 408-9, 432). Sometime between 11:30 p.m. and midnight the Alfonsos arrived at Club 41 and saw Torres again, alone (T. 433). Torres joined the Alfonsos at their table. Bogle approached the table and inquired if Torres was with them (T. 410, 434). Phillip responded "no" (Id.). Bogle showed him a scar he had from a car accident (T. 411).⁵ Phillip saw Torres leave the bar around 1:00 - 1:15 a.m. (T. 412).⁶ He saw Bogle walk by him a few minutes later (T. 413). At 2:00-2:30 a.m. the Alfonsos left Club 41. They testified that they saw Bogle (T. 413). Though Tammy could not

⁵The Alfonsos testified that they noticed no injuries to Bogle or scratches on his forehead (T. 411, 435).

⁶During his testimony, Phillip insisted that he never saw Torres leave the bar earlier in the evening and, though he never spoke to Torres during the evening, she was not drunk (T. 418-9).

really see Bogle, her husband asked him why he was so dirty (T. 436). Phillip testified that Bogle looked like "he had been walking in the mud" and his crotch was wet (T. 414). Bogle said he had passed out in a van (T. 414, 437). Tammy testified that she noticed some scratches on his forehead at this time (T. 437).

On September 13, 1991, Bogle was arrested at a trailer. Detective Larry Lingo located Bogle in the bathroom, behind a shower curtain (T. 359).⁷ Lingo also testified that Bogle "had what appeared to be scratches on his forehead and they appeared to be fresh to me at that point." (T. 363).

Ronald Cashwell, who worked in the crime scene unit, testified that he collected a pair of white pants from a bathtub and the pants "were still damp" (T. 346). Cashwell testified:

Q: When you collected the shoes and the pants and you packaged them, where did you take them? A: Packaged them separately and transported them to the ID garage.

Q: Okay. And are they - were they put in a secured area?

A: Yes, ma'am.

(T. 346-7; 350).

Corporal Art Picard photographed Bogle on September 14th (T. 339); <u>see</u> State's Trial Exs. 20 A, B and C. On September 17th Lingo checked Bogle's pants out of evidence and examined them:

A: I took a piece of brown wrapping paper put out on the counter and opened the pants up on top of this and as they were laying on the paper looking down at them, the zipper part opened, I found several what appeared to be pubic hairs inside of the pants and also inside the legs of

⁷Lingo testified at the penalty phase. <u>See</u> T. 1264-94. During his testimony, Lingo told the jury that Torres' clothes were stacked beside her body in a pile and her sneakers were placed together on the other side of her body (T. 1281). They were not ripped or strewn about (T. 1282). And, there was a lot of blood in the area (T. 1282).

the pants.

 $(T. 366).^8$

FBI Agent Michael Malone examined and compared the contents of S-Ex. 13, which was the debris from Bogle's pants, with the known head hair and pubic hair from Torres (T. 317). There was a single "Caucasian pubic hair which matched the pubic hairs of Margaret Torres. In other words it was microscopically indistinguishable from her's and, therefore, I concluded this one pubic hair from the pants was consistent with coming from Margaret Torres." (T. 317-8). Malone testified that the hair was shed naturally. Malone also testified that he identified a Caucasian characteristic head hair, which exhibited mixed race characteristics that did not match Bogle or the victim and was identified as coming from "debris from the victim" (T. 328).

FBI Agent Robert Grispino testified that he identified a small drop of blood on Bogle's left shoe, but could not classify it any further (T. 392). Grispino's analysis also determined that blood was present under Torres' right fingernails (T. 394).

FBI Agent Harold Deadman was provided the vaginal swabs on which another agent had identified seminal fluid and "portions of cloth having been removed from the victim's panties" (T. 462). Deadman explained that he was able to extract DNA from the panties but: "I obtained insufficient DNA to conduct our analysis." So, the result was inconclusive (T. 464). As to the vaginal swabs, Deadman testified:

[T]here was only a very small amount of DNA obtained from the vaginal swabs of the three tests that I conducted.

⁸Lingo testifief that no one had come into contact with the pants prior to this time (T. 366).

I obtained DNA patterns for two of the tests and one test I obtained no patterns. The sensitivity of that particular test was not sufficient to generate any results. So, again on one of the tests, the results would be inconclusive because nothing was obtained.

On one of the tests I did on the - a DNA profile from the vaginal swab DNA that was matching to Brett Bogle's DNA profile. The second produced a result was also determined to be inconclusive, but for a technical reason.

(T. 465). Deadman testified that statistically the profile meant that one in twelve Caucasians would exhibit the same profile (T. 467). Deadman opined that the database overestimated the statistics so the percentages would be smaller (T. 468).

The jury convicted Bogle and a penalty phase was held the following day. During its rebuttal, the State presented testimony about hearsay statements allegedly made by Patricia Murray, Bogle's former girlfriend, about prior acts of violence committed by Bogle. <u>See</u> T. 808-20. While the jury recommended death by a vote of 7 to 5, Bogle filed a motion for new trial and presented the testimony of Murray. The court characterized Murray's testimony as "substantially" different from that of the State's witnesses and ordered a new penalty phase (R. 217).

At the second penalty phase the State presented much of the evidence that had been presented at the guilt phase. Bogle presented the testimony of psychiatrist, Dr. Arturo Gonzalez. Gonzalez testified that Bogle was raised in a "very, very dysfunctional family" (T. 1397). Gonzalez testified that Bogle's father forced his kids to use marijuana at a young age and that the children were abused (T. 1399-400). Gonzalez also mentioned that Bogle used drugs at an early age and became addicted to pot and cocaine (T. 1400-1). Gonzalez explained that acute substance abuse affects one's capacity to think and reason so there would

be "diminished capacity" (T. 1401). Gonzalez testified that on the night of the crime, Bogle had drank approximately twelve beers (T. 1403). Gonzalez opined that Bogle "was under ... some type of influence of emotional disturbance" (T. 1403).

On cross examination, Gonzalez admitted that he had conducted no testing with Bogle (T. 1406, 1409). The prosecutor asked whether or not Bogle had any psychiatric disorders (T. 1408). Gonzalez responded: "Well, he has a personality disorder also, which I would characterize as borderline. He sort of been impulsive, that type of thing." (T. 1409). On redirect, Gonzalez testified that because of the alcohol and his upbringing, Bogle's ability to conduct his - conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was impaired to some extent (T. 1427).

In addition, a few of Bogle's family members testified. The family described Bogle's father as a "violent man" who beat his children and wife (T. 1433, 1441-2, 1445, 1451, 1505, 1519, 1531). Bogle's father had mood swings (T. 1445, 1532). He used marijuana, cocaine and alcohol and often left his children home alone (T. 1447-8, 1506). Bogle's father introduced him to marijuana when he was only five or six years old and introduced him to cocaine when he was thirteen (T. 1517-8). Bogle's father was diagnosed with schizophrenia (T. 1532).

Bogle's mother told the jury that Bogle had been prescribed Ritalin as a child and he suffered from chemical pnemonia when he was 18 months old because he drank pine oil cleaner (T. 1529).

In the months preceding the crime, Bogle was using crack cocaine (T. 1460). However, shortly before the crime he had attempted to stop using drugs (T. 1464). Then, a week before the

crime, Bogle was involved in a car accident (T. 1465-6). Bogle was not wearing a seat belt and his face and head hit the windshield (T. 1466). Bogle also sustained three cracked ribs and a broken rib that punctured his lung (T. 1475, 1537).

The jury recommended death by a 10 to 2 vote. The trial court imposed death, finding 1) a prior violent felony relating to the September 1st burglary and assault; 2) the crime was committed while Bogle was engaged in the commission of a sexual battery; 3) the crime was committed to avoid a lawful arrest; and 4) the crime was heinous, atrocious and cruel (R. 261-7).

The court found no statutory mitigation. As to nonstatutory mitigation, the court found that Bogle's family background was entitled to substantial weight; the court gave little weight to Bogle's drug and alcohol use because "there was little evidence of alcohol or drug dependency at the time of the murder." (R. 266). The court gave some weight to Bogle's good conduct at trial and to his kindness to his mother (Id.).

B. THE POSTCONVICTION PROCEEDINGS

At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel, Doug Roberts explained his perception of the case against Bogle:

The State's case was that he was the most likely suspect because he had been arguing with her and there was just nobody else that they wanted to investigate.

(PC-T. 586). Roberts believed that the 'scientific evidence was the big deal in the case" (PC-T. 680). But, the case against Bogle was "circumstantial" (PC-T. 588, 651). Roberts believed that Bogle was innocent (PC-T. 589).

1. Marcia, Marcia, Marcia

Guy Douglas was a target of investigation of Bogle's defense

(PC-T. 594). ASA Karen Cox' notes reflect she had been provided information that Douglas confessed to involvement in the crime:

Marcia Bowerly, sister of Jeane Burile, 6903 Michigan Avenue, Gibsonton, FL

Guy Douglas 92-7731 capias

talk to re: **Guy Douglas confessed to being involved**. (D-Ex. 2) (emphasis added). The information contained therein was not disclosed to trial counsel (PC-T. 593-4).

Cox testified that she was unsure as to when or how she came into possession of the information that Douglas had confessed (PC-T. 425-6). However, Cox' file reflects that she was involved in the prosecution of Douglas where he had viciously beaten a pregnant Marcia as early as May 22, 1992. <u>See</u> D-Exs. 7, 8.⁹ Indeed, Cox had an investigative subpoena issued for Marcia to meet with her on August 5, 1992 (PC-T. 430, D-Ex. 5).

As Bogle's trial approached, Cox' file makes clear that she or someone with the State spoke to Marcia and that Marcia had been the source of the information regarding Douglas' confession and involvement in Torres' murder. Just days before Bogle's trial was to begin, local attorney Wayne Timmerman returned a call from Cox (D-Ex. 9). At the evidentiary hearing, the notes reflecting a return phone call from Timmerman to Cox were explained: In 1991, Marcia became pregnant with Douglas' baby. Marcia was in fear of Douglas due to her knowledge of his involvement in killing Torres. She decided to place her child for adoption and contacted Timmerman (PC-T. 1026). Though

⁹At the time of the prosecution of Bogle, Marcia's married name was "Turley". However, she used her maiden name of Baurle because she was intermittently separated from her husband.

Timmerman did not handle family law matters, he referred Marcia to another attorney with whom he shared office space (PC-T. 5255). That attorney, Elizabeth Hapner, used the services of Timmerman's wife, Suzanne, in her practice. However, whether it was because she initially attempted to retain Wayne Timmerman or because Suzanne Timmerman was present when Marcia gave birth to her child¹⁰, or whether Marcia simply recalled Timmerman's name from the office building where she met with Hapner, Marcia confusedly reported that she was represented by Timmerman in the adoption proceedings and she reported that she had told her attorney about her reasons for giving up her baby and what she knew about Douglas' involvement in Torres' killing.¹¹

Marcia told Cox that she had spoken to her attorney about Douglas' involvement in killing Torres and Cox attempted to verify the information. Cox did not disclose the information. Cox also attempted to verify the information with Marcia's husband, Gary Turley. <u>See</u> D-Ex. 15.

Had Cox disclosed the information Marcia possessed, the defense would have learned that Marcia and Douglas were dating in 1991 (PC-T. 491-2). In September 1991, Marcia lived at the Gables Motel and worked at the bar (PC-T 493-4). Marcia met Bogle on the night of the crime (PC-T. 494). Marcia observed scratches on Bogle's face and forehead, that he had difficulty walking and was wearing a sling (PC-T. 494, 530). Bogle explained that he had been involved in a car accident (PC-T.

 $^{^{10}}Suzanne$ Timmerman recalled being present when Marcia's baby was born (PC-T. 817-8).

¹¹Hapner recalled that the father may have committed a murder in the Gibsonton area in 1991 (PC-T. 5258).

494). In the early evening, Marcia, Douglas, Bogle and a girl named "Trish" went to the Red Gables bar for drinks and proceeded to Club 41 (PC-T. 495-6). When the foursome arrived, they played pool for awhile and then Marcia sat at the bar (PC-T. 497). Marcia recalled that later, she and Douglas argued and she decided to leave (PC-T. 498). Marcia, who had been drinking, went out to the parking lot and fell asleep in a car (<u>Id</u>.). When she awoke, she entered the bar, had a glass of water, used the restroom and left Club 41 to walk to the motel (PC-T. 499).

While walking back to the motel, Marcia was approached by a police officer who asked for identification (PC-T. 500). Douglas walked by them but denied knowing Marcia (PC-T. 501). The police officer gave Marcia a ride to the motel (Id.). Marcia fell asleep but was awakened by Douglas' entering the room (PC-T. 502). The next time Marcia woke up, it was daylight and Douglas was coming out of the shower (PC-T. 503). Marcia's sister, Jeanne, also saw Douglas coming out of the bathroom, holding his clothes in his arms (PC-T. 826). Marcia and Douglas argued briefly and he told her to "shut the fuck up bitch." (PC-T. 504).

Later, after learning that Torres had been killed, Douglas told Marcia that Bogle had been arrested, but he [Douglas] did not have to worry because he had been with Marcia all night (PC-T. 505). Marcia was shocked because he was not with her all night and when she said this to Douglas, "[h]e told me that he was with me all night and I needed to - that I didn't need to say anything other than that or they would be lucky if they found my body." (<u>Id</u>.). That same day Marcia moved out of the motel and left her employ (PC-T. 505, 830). She was frightened about what

Douglas may do to her if she did not provide him with an alibi and believed that his threat was in relation to Torres' murder (PC-T. 513, 523). Jeanne confirmed that Douglas had told Marcia she should supply an alibi for him and that Marcia was "scared to death" of Douglas based on what happened (PC-T. 827).

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