RECEIVED, 4/8/2013 14:33:41, Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BRETT A. BOGLE,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC11-2403 Lower Tribunal No. 91-12952

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA Chief Assistant Attorney General Capital Appeals Bureau Chief Florida Bar No. 0445071 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: 813-287-7910 Facsimile: 813-281-5501 capapp@myfloridalegal.com [and] candance.sabella@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

When collateral counsel asked Marcia Turley why she was scared of Guy Douglas, the judge ultimately allowed collateral counsel to ask the witness if her fear of Douglas was based on his threat following the victim's murder over the objection of the State. (V62/507-13) Bogle was not prevented from eliciting this information. Likewise, when the State objected to testimony regarding Douglas's statements to Marcia Turley during the commission of a battery, the court "sustained" the State's hearsay objection, but ultimately allowed collateral counsel to ask the witness, "Did Guy Douglas say anything to you during this episode?" (V62/516-18) Because the record clearly establishes that the trial court did not preclude collateral counsel from eliciting any testimony from Marcia Turley, Bogle's claim is without merit.

Counsel also complains that the court mistakenly ruled that hearsay

testimony from Marcia Turley's husband, Gary Turley, was inadmissible.⁶ Collateral counsel argued that the hearsay was admissible to show what could have been discovered by defense counsel had the State turned over the witness' name. As noted by the prosecutor, however, there was never any evidence introduced that the State was aware of Gary Turley or had ever spoken to him prior to Bogle's trial. (V62/1020-24) As the court properly noted, the questions posed to Gary Turley regarding statements allegedly made by his wife were inadmissible hearsay and collateral counsel has not established that the court abused its discretion in sustaining the State's objection.

Collateral counsel next asserts that the trial court erred in precluding him from questioning trial counsel Douglas Roberts regarding hearsay statements made by Roger Kelly at a deposition Roberts took of the potential witness.⁷ (V63/594-603) The State objected because collateral counsel was attempting to introduce hearsay statements made by Roger Kelly at a pretrial deposition as substantive evidence. Contrary to counsel's assertions, the court did not preclude collateral counsel from arguing why the hearsay was allegedly admissible, but rather, correctly found that counsel's argument was without merit as the hearsay evidence

⁶ Collateral counsel proffered that Gary Turley would testify that his wife told him Guy Douglas came to her motel room on the night of the victim's murder with blood on his clothes. (V67/1024) Marcia Turley, who testified earlier at the evidentiary hearing, did not recall ever observing blood on Douglas or his clothing. (V62/535-37).

⁷ Roger Kelly died before Bogle's trial.

was inadmissible at the postconviction proceedings and would have been inadmissible at trial. See Randolph v. State, 853 So. 2d 1051, 1061-63 (Fla. 2003)(holding that court did not err in refusing to admit affidavit of deceased witness at postconviction proceeding as affidavit did not fall under any of the hearsay exceptions under section 90.804(2)); Reichmann v. State, 966 So. 2d 298, 311 (Fla. 2007). Furthermore, trial counsel Roberts testified that he was aware of Guy Douglas as a possible suspect and Kelly's deposition "didn't do anything that I already wasn't doing" regarding investigating Guy Douglas. (V63/604) Trial counsel also testified that he would have never attempted to introduce Roger Kelly's deposition as that would have prevented him from having rebuttal closing argument. (V63/604-05). Because the trial court properly sustained the State's objection and collateral counsel has failed to establish any abuse of the court's discretion, this Court should reject the instant sub-claim.

Collateral counsel also complains that he was deprived of a full and fair hearing because the trial court sustained the State's objection when collateral counsel questioned Brian Bogle, Appellant's twin brother, regarding a letter he wrote which was introduced at Appellant's penalty phase proceeding. In the letter, Brain Bogle wrote that on one occasion he was whipped so hard that he urinated himself. (V64/768-69) At the penalty phase, this statement in Brian Bogle's letter was omitted by court order and the postconviction court sustained the State's objection that this was not relevant to a claim of ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel because trial counsel had obviously unsuccessfully sought to introduce the statement. The court agreed and sustained the objection. Even if the court erred in sustaining the objection, Appellant's argument that he was denied a fair and full hearing is without merit. *See Marquard v. State*, 850 So. 2d 417, 425-26 (Fla. 2002)(stating that postconviction court did not deny defendant a full and fair hearing by refusing to permit hearsay testimony and, even if court erred, error was harmless).

(B) Access to Discovery

Appellant argues that the court deprived him of a full and fair hearing by denying his requests for discovery material relating to FBI Agent Michael Malone's work in other cases, access to the Florida DNA database, and access to jail calls. After reviewing the written motions and hearing argument of counsel, the trial court denied each of the discovery requests. Appellant has failed to show that the court abused its discretion in denying these requests. *See Floyd v. State*, 18 So. 3d 432, 446 (Fla. 2009)("The ruling of a postconviction court on a motion for discovery is reviewed for an abuse of discretion."); *Kelley v. State*, 974 So. 2d 1047, 1050-51 (Fla. 2007)(stating when a defendant sets forth good reason, a court may allow limited discovery into matters which are relevant and material, but the court does not abuse its discretion when the request is merely a fishing expedition).

The trial court denied Bogle's request for documents relating to FBI Agent Michael Malone's work in other unrelated cases because the area of inquiry was irrelevant and collateral to the instant proceedings. (V81/1878-84) With regard to Bogle's request for access to FDLE's DNA database, the court noted that collateral counsel had never asked the State's DNA analyst any questions regarding any similar DNA profiles within the database and the prosecutor stated that the defense's expert simply wanted access to conduct research and engage in a fishing expedition. The prosecutor further noted that the defense expert admitted that a private expert had never been given access to such a database in the United States. (V81/1875-78) Because Bogle failed to establish good cause, the trial court properly denied his discovery request. Kelley, 974 So. 2d at 1050-51. Likewise, the court acted within its discretion in denying Bogle's overly broad request for access to jail phone records. (V81/1884-88).

(C) Disqualification of Judge

Bogle asserts the court erred in denying his repeated motions to disqualify the judge based on allegations that Judge Timmerman and his wife were "material" witnesses at the evidentiary hearing based on testimony from Marcia Turley that she recalled Timmerman's name when she gave her baby up for adoption.⁸

⁸ Marcia Turley testified that her adoption attorney was a female and that she recalled telling her that she feared the child's father because he had committed a murder. (V62/514, 524). Suzanne

Contrary to Appellant's assertions, the judge and his wife were not "material" in the instant case as the issues surrounding the adoption of Marcia Turley's child were simply irrelevant to any postconviction claim in this case. Furthermore, conveniently absent from collateral counsel's argument on this sub-claim is the fact that this issue has already been litigated in this Court when Bogle filed a Petition Seeking Review of a Non-Final Order in a Death Penalty Postconviction Proceeding and/or Petition for Writ of Prohibition, and this Court specifically found that "the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Bogle's renewed motion to disqualify" because "neither Judge Timmerman nor his wife were material witnesses." Bogle v. State, 10 So. 3d 631 (Fla. 2009)(unpublished decision)(emphasis added). Because this Court has previously found that Bogle's claim lacks merit and that Judge Timmerman and his wife were not material witnesses, this Court's prior rejection of the claim is law of the case. Henry v. State, 649 So. 2d 1361, 1364 (Fla. 1994)(finding "law of the case" doctrine applies to preclude review of a suppression issue raised in prior appeal and denied by a majority of this Court.) Under the law of the case doctrine, "all points of law which have been previously adjudicated by a majority of this Court may be reconsidered only where a subsequent hearing or trial develops material changes in the evidence,

Timmerman testified that she was a paralegal for her husband's firm and attorney Elizabeth Hapner rented office space from her husband. Mrs. Timmerman vaguely recalled going to the hospital and notarizing some papers for Hapner's adoption case, but did not recall any conversations about the father committing a murder. (V65/816-20).

or where exceptional circumstances exist whereby reliance upon the previous decision would result in manifest injustice." *Id.* As the facts remain the same, and there have been no material changes, there is no basis to overturn this prior finding. The denial of the motion to disqualify should once again be affirmed.

<u>ISSUE II</u> BRADY/GIGLIO CLAIMS

In this claim Bogle asserts a number of *Brady/Giglio* violations occurred. The trial court granted an evidentiary hearing to afford Bogle the opportunity to prove his claim that the State withheld material exculpatory evidence or knowingly presented false or misleading evidence.⁹ Bogle's attempt to expand his argument or present claims that were not previously raised to the postconviction court should be squarely rejected.¹⁰

"Both Giglio and Brady claims present mixed questions of law and fact.

⁹ Relevant to Bogle's *Brady/Giglio* claim, Bogle's postconviction motion alleged (1) the prosecution failed to disclose and/or presented misleading testimony/argument with regard to Guy Douglas being involved in the murder of Margaret Torres; (2) the State's argument regarding Bogle's facial scratches was false; (3) the State failed to disclose information regarding Jeffrey Trapp's probation; (4) testimony given by FBI agents Malone and Deadman, was inaccurate and/or false, and (5) the Tracey transcript revealed that the witnesses Katie Alfonso, Phillip Alfonso, and Det. Larry Lingo testified inconsistently. (V7/1201-06, 1251-55, 1338-47; V13/2518-25). The postconviction court granted a hearing regarding the Guy Douglas claim, the Malone and Deadman claim, the Jeffery Trapp claim, and the Tracey testimony claim. (V15/2968-69, 2975-78, 2980, 2993). The claim regarding the facial scratches was summarily denied as procedurally barred and insufficiently plead. (V15/2978-79).

¹⁰ Allegations which change the factual or legal bases of the claims raised below are procedurally barred. *Henyard v. State*, 883 So. 2d 753, 759 (Fla. 2004); *Griffin v. State*, 866 So. 2d 1, 11 n.5 (Fla. 2003); *Vining v. State*, 827 So. 2d 201, 211-13 (Fla. 2002); *Thompson v. State*, 759 So. 2d 650, 668 n.12 (Fla. 2000); *see also Brown v. State*, 894 So. 2d 137, 154 (Fla. 2004)(disapproving of attempts to raise new claims in post-hearing memorandum).

Thus, as to findings of fact [this Court] will defer to the lower court's findings if they are supported by competent, substantial evidence. This Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court. [This Court] review[s] the trial court's application of the law to the facts de novo." *Franqui v. State*, 59 So. 2d 82, 102 (Fla. 2011)(citations omitted). As will be demonstrated, the postconviction court's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence and the court correctly applied the law to the facts. As such, Bogle has not demonstrated any reason to disturb the judgment below.

After reviewing Appellant's Motion, Closing Argument, and all evidence presented at the extensive evidentiary hearing, the court found that Bogle failed to show that the State possessed and failed to disclose information regarding Mr. favorable defense. Douglas that was to the (V16/3086-90)(footnotes omitted)(emphasis added). Specifically, the court concluded there was no persuasive evidence presented that Ms. Cox had any actual evidence that either of these things were true, that Ms. Cox's testimony was highly credible that if she had any evidence that another person confessed to being involved, she would have immediately disclosed that to the defense and that Bogle has failed to show that Ms. Cox had any communication with Ms. Turley prior to Bogle's trial.

After concluding Bogle failed to establish that favorable evidence was

suppressed, contrary to Bogle's assertions, the postconviction court correctly identified the standard for a prejudice analysis under *Brady*. The court observed:

To establish that the evidence suppressed was material, the defense must show that "the favorable evidence could reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict." *Strickler*, 527 U.S. at 290, 119 S.Ct. 1936 (quoting *Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419, 435, 115 S.Ct. 1555, 131 L.Ed.2d 490 (1995)). (V16/3091).

Relevant to this analysis, the postconviction court outlined key pieces of the evidence against Bogle at trial. This included, (1) evidence Bogle was angry with the victim, physically assaulted her, and threatened if she pressed charges "she would not live to tell about it"; (2) testimony that in the early morning hours of the night of the murder Bogle (who earlier appeared clean and uninjured) now appeared dirty, his crotch was wet, and he had scratches on his forehead; (3) the evening following the murder Bogle was found clothed hiding in a shower with the pants he wore the previous night on the shower floor, and he appeared to have fresh scratches on his face; (4) a hair from these pants was consistent with the victim's public hair; and (5) a DNA profile was created from the semen present on the victim's vaginal swab, and Bogle was in 12.5% of the Caucasian population that was a match to that profile. (V16/3091)¹¹ The postconviction court further

¹¹ Bogle erroneously asserts the lower court's reliance on this trial evidence was error as the evidence had been undermined in postconviction. Appellant's Brief at 45-46. Bogle is mistaken. The court properly viewed the evidence from trial, and analyzed whether there was a reasonable

observed that Bogle failed to present any direct evidence that Douglas or anyone else actually confessed to the murder. The court rejected testimony which "showed that there was a rumor that more than one individual was involved; a rumor which no first hand testimony or direct evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing substantiated, and even if substantiated, does not exonerate Bogle." Nor, the court found, was there any evidence which indicates that disclosing the note would have led the defense to interview Turley, who was by her own admission, attempting to make herself scarce or that evidence Douglas was "involved," would exonerate Bogle. The court also found that Bogle failed to show that the State knowingly presented or failed to correct false testimony. Therefore his *Giglio* claim regarding Douglas was denied. (V16/3092-93).¹²

The evidence at the hearing revealed Karen Cox testified that she had received an e-mail from their victim's assistance person, Elaine Sims, that Katie Alfonso-Tucker told her someone named Andy, who was present at the bar with

probability that the verdict would have been different had the suppressed information been used at "trial." *Strickler*. He further erroneously argues the court's analysis should have considered what the defense could have discovered and presented. Appellant's Brief at 47. However, what evidence could have been presented is not the burden Bogle must satisfy. To establish materiality under *Brady*, it is Bogle's burden to establish a reasonable probability of a different result. *Strickler*.

¹² Bogle attempts to raise as a *Giglio* claim that Cox never revealed that Guy Douglas' alibi was not confirmed, and that Det. Lingo's testimony on this point was false and Cox knew this. Appellant's Brief at 39. However, Bogle did not raise this claim to the court below. (V7/1201-06, 1251-55; V15/2858-64) As such, this claim should be denied as procedurally barred. *Green v. State*, 975 So. 2d 1090, 1104 (Fla. 2008)(claim is "procedurally barred because it was neither raised in Green's 3.851 motion nor addressed by the trial court").

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